IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
Plaintiff and Respondent,
v.
KEITH RYAN REESE,
Defendant and Appellant.

) Supreme Court No. S230259
)
) Court of Appeal No. B253610
)
) Los Angeles County Superior
) Court No. TA125272
)
)
)
)
)

SUPREME COURT
FILED

APR 13 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Second Appellate District, Division Eight Case No. B253610
Los Angeles County Case No. TA125272
The Honorable John T. Doyle, Judge



APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ESTHER K. HONG
State Bar No. 254251
Law Office of E. Hong Inc.
1255 W. Colton Avenue, Suite 502
Redlands, CA 92374
(909) 991-5996
(909) 333-4012 fax
ehong@lawyer.com

INTRODUCTION

The United States Supreme Court and California Supreme Court have expounded on the constitutional right of an indigent defendant in a criminal case to obtain a free transcript of prior proceedings. By comparing indigent defendants to their wealthier counterparts under the Equal Protection Clause (U.S. Const., Amend. XIV), the courts found that the State must provide a free transcript or an adequate alternative to poor defendants in order for them to effectively prepare for an appeal or a retrial.

In *Griffin v. Illinois* (1956) 351 U.S. 12 [76 S.Ct. 585, 100 L.Ed. 891], the United States Supreme Court first announced an indigent

defendant's right to obtain a free transcript in order to prepare for his appeal. It observed that "[t]here can be no equal justice where the kind of trial a man gets depends on the amount of money he has. Destitute defendants must be afforded as adequate appellate review as defendants who have money enough to buy transcripts." (*Id.* at p. 19.)

Next, in *Britt v. North Carolina* (1971) 404 U.S. 226, 227 [92 S.Ct. 431], the Supreme Court found that "*Griffin v. Illinois* and its progeny establish the principle that the State must, as a matter of equal protection, provide indigent prisoners with the basic tools of an adequate defense or appeal, when those tools are available for a price to other prisoners." (See also *Mayer v. City of Chicago* (1971) 404 U.S. 189, 193, 195 [92 S.Ct. 410, 30 L.Ed.2d 372].) Thus, the *Britt* court held that an indigent defendant is entitled to a free transcript of prior proceedings after a mistrial. (*Britt, supra*, 404 U.S. at pp. 227–228.)

Three years later, this Court relied on both *Britt* and *Mayer* to find that the State must provide an indigent defendant a free transcript of his mistrial. (*Shuford v. Superior Court* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 903.) It expressly referred to the United States Supreme Court's mandate that poor defendants must receive free transcripts that are necessary for their defense, when they are available to defendants who can afford to pay them. (See, e.g., *id.* at pp. 906–907.)

A year later, this Court ruled in *People v. Hosner* (1975) 15 Cal.3d 60 that an indigent defendant who makes a timely motion for the transcript of a mistrial is “presumptively entitled to a *complete* transcript of his first trial.” (*Id.* at p. 66, italics added.) In order for a trial court to deny this request for a complete trial transcript, the prosecution must “overcome the presumptions of defendant’s particularized need for the transcript and of the unavailability of adequate alternative devices.” (*Ibid.*) Otherwise, “the erroneous denial of an indigent defendant’s motion for a free transcript of a prior trial requires automatic reversal.” (*Id.* at p. 70.)

While this Court has not directly addressed the question of whether opening statements and closing arguments are part of a complete trial transcript, the Ninth Circuit in *Kennedy v. Lockyer* (9th Cir. 2004) 379 F.3d 1041, 1047, has held that they are.

For the following seven reasons, this Court should follow the *Kennedy* court to hold that under the Equal Protection Clause, an indigent defendant is presumptively entitled to the opening statements and closing arguments of his first trial when he requests a transcript: (1) Supreme Court precedent establishes that transcripts of the opening statements and closing arguments are part of a complete trial transcript; (2) this Court in *Hosner* implicitly found that these transcripts are included in a complete trial transcript; (3) the transcripts of the opening statements and closing

arguments would help a defendant with pre-trial discovery and impeachment at his retrial; (4) these transcripts would help a defendant rebut the prosecution's evidence at retrial; (5) these transcripts would show the defendant the main theory and strategy of a prosecution's case; (6) closing argument transcripts would reveal the arguments and evidence that impacted the jury's verdict; and (7) transcripts of the closing arguments are automatically included in an appellate transcript.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the trial court violate an indigent *pro se* defendant's constitutional right to equal protection of the laws when it denied his request for transcripts of the opening statements and closing arguments from his first trial, which ended in a mistrial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Keith Reese ("Reese") represented himself in two trials. (I C.T. 93.) During jury deliberations of the first trial, the jury asked the court a total of seven questions. (I C.T. 100-103.) The jury indicated that it was hopelessly deadlocked, and the court declared a mistrial. (I C.T. 103.)

Approximately two weeks after the mistrial, the court granted Reese's timely motion for a complete transcript of the first trial. (I C.T. 105.) Approximately six weeks later, on Thursday, June 6, 2013, the court gave him partial transcripts, which did not include either opening

statements or closing arguments. (I C.T. 138.)

On the following Monday, June 10, 2013, the prosecution announced that it was ready for trial, but Reese stated that he was not ready. (I C.T. 146.) Reese requested the complete transcript from his first trial, including the opening statements and closing arguments, but the court denied Reese's motion for additional transcripts and motion to continue. (I C.T. 146, 149.)

Reese's second jury trial started on the same day, based on an amended information that contained the same five counts as the information in the first trial. (I C.T. 139, 149.)

Reese was charged with two counts of criminal threats against Beatrice Reese and Fagasa Jackson (counts 1 & 2; Pen. Code, § 422, subd. (a)),¹ one count of possession of a firearm by a felon (count 3; § 29800, subd. (a)(1)), and two counts of assault with a firearm against Beatrice and Jackson (counts 4&5; § 245, subd. (a)(2)). (I C.T. 139-143.)

On counts 1, 2, 4, 5, the information alleged that Reese personally used a firearm (§§ 1203.06, subd. (a)(1), 12022.5, subd. (a)), that the offenses were serious and violent felonies (§§ 1192.7, subd. (c)(8), 667.5, subd. (c)(8)), and required any custodial sentence to be served in state prison (§1170, subd. (h)(3)). The information also alleged as to counts 1, 2,

¹ All future statutory references will be to the Penal Code, unless otherwise

prison (§1170, subd. (h)(3)). The information also alleged as to counts 1, 2, 4, and 5, that Reese had a prior conviction under section 245, subdivision (a)(2), a serious or violent felony (§ 1170.12, subds. (a)-(d) & (b)-(i)) and a serious felony (§ 667, subd. (a)(1)).

Reese stipulated to bifurcate his prior conviction, and stipulated that he suffered the prior conviction. (I C.T. 150, 155; III R.T. 634.)

Reese waived his right to testify. (I C.T. 202.)

The jury found Reese guilty of all five counts, and found that he personally used a firearm under section 12022.5, subdivision (a). (I C.T. 190-191, 203.)

The court sentenced Reese to a total of 17 years in state prison. (II C.T. 344.) This sentence consisted of the upper term of four years on count 4, the base term, which was doubled to eight years pursuant to section 1170.12, subdivisions (a) – (d) and section 667, subdivision (b) – (i). (II C.T. 345.) The court selected a consecutive mid-term of four years under section 12022.5, subdivision (a), and an additional five years pursuant to section 667, subdivision (a)(1). (II C.T. 345.)

Reese filed a timely notice of appeal. (II C.T. 345.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Court is respectfully referred to the facts contained in the Court of Appeal opinion in the section “Facts – The Crimes.” (Op. at 2–3.)

ARGUMENT

DEFENDANT’S EQUAL PROTECTION RIGHTS WERE DENIED WHEN HE DID NOT RECEIVE THE TRANSCRIPTS OF THE OPENING STATEMENTS AND CLOSING ARGUMENTS FROM HIS FIRST TRIAL

Four decades ago, this Court held under the Equal Protection Clause that after a mistrial, “an indigent defendant in a criminal trial who was entitled to a free transcript of a prior mistrial was *presumptively* entitled to a *full* transcript of those prior proceedings, and that the burden was on the prosecution to show that the defendant would have an effective defense or appeal with anything less than a complete transcript.” (*Hosner, supra*, 15 Cal.3d at p. 65, italics in original.) If the prosecution does not meet its “burden . . . to clearly establish the contrary,” and the complete transcript is not provided, then automatic reversal is required. (*Id.* at pp. 69–70.)

Reese requested a complete transcript from his first mistrial, but the trial court only provided him with the transcripts of the testimony, and denied his specific requests for the transcripts of the opening statements and closing arguments. There was no objection from the prosecution. Therefore, the trial court denied Reese his Equal Protection rights, and the judgment should be reversed. (U.S. Const., Amend. XIV; Cal. Const., art. I, § 7.)

A. Relevant Proceedings

Approximately two weeks after the mistrial, the court received and granted Reese's timely motion for a complete trial transcript from his first trial. (I C.T. 105.)

Approximately six weeks later, on Thursday, June 6, 2013, Reese received a partial set of transcripts. (I C.T. 138.) The following Monday, on June 10, 2013, when the court asked whether the parties were ready for trial, Reese responded that he was not ready because he had not received the full transcript from his mistrial. (III R.T. 1, 4.) The prosecution did not respond. The court stated that Reese was only entitled to the trial testimony. (III R.T. 4.) The following discussion took place:

[REESE]: I have not received a full trial transcript.

THE COURT: The transcripts that were ordered were all the testimony and at this point in time you are entitled only to the testimony given because of the issues that might arise during the trial[,] for example impeachment. I don't know what other transcripts you are seeking to obtain.

[REESE]: I am required to have opening statements and closing arguments . . . so I won't make the same mistakes. . . . I have a small amount of time to study a lot.

THE COURT: When you represent yourself, the court cannot give you any favors. You will be treated like a lawyer will be. That's why people shouldn't represent themselves. The motion to request the opening and closing arguments is denied. That was denied previously. That is not evidence.

[REESE]: It's related to a discrimination motion. I need the full

complete set. I am required by law.

THE COURT: You are not entitled. You are entitled to transcripts. You have been provided transcripts of the testimony portion. You have represented yourself and you are given the transcript to proceed with trial. As to discrimination, you are not treated differently.

(III R.T. 4-5.)

On the afternoon of June 10, 2013, Reese again moved to have all the transcripts from the first trial, and informed the court that he was not given enough time to study the transcripts. (III R.T. 9.) The prosecution again did not object or respond. The court informed him that he was only entitled to have the transcripts of the testimony. (I C.T. 149.)

That same day, Reese's second jury trial began. (I C.T. 149-150; III R.T. 20.) On the third day of the trial, the jury found Reese guilty of all five counts. (I C.T. 203.)

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

B. The Transcripts of The Opening Statements and Closing Arguments Are Included In The “Complete Transcript” Referred To In *Hosner*

It is undisputed that a defendant is presumptively entitled to a complete set of transcript after a mistrial upon request. In *Hosner*, this Court found that a defendant who makes a timely request for a transcript after a mistrial is “presumptively entitled to a *complete* transcript of his first trial.” (*Hosner, supra*, 15 Cal.3d at p. 66, italics added.) It also ruled that “an indigent defendant in a criminal trial is *presumed* to have a particularized need for a transcript of prior proceedings, just as he is *presumed*, if he needs a transcript at all, to need nothing less than a complete transcript.” (*Id.* at p. 66, fn. 4, italics in original.)

Also, the Ninth Circuit found that it is “clearly establish[ed]” under Supreme Court precedent that “it is assumed that a defendant will ‘ordinarily’ need a *complete* transcript of a prior mistrial in order to present an effective defense.” (*Kennedy, supra*, 379 F.3d at pp. 1049–1050, citing *Britt*, 404 U.S. at p. 228, italics added.)

While a defendant’s presumed need of a complete mistrial transcript upon request is clear, this Court has not previously addressed the specific question of whether a complete transcript includes opening statements and closing arguments. This Court should find that transcripts of opening statements and closing arguments are part of a complete transcript for the

following seven reasons.

1. It Is Clearly Established Under Supreme Court Precedent That Opening Statements and Closing Arguments Are Part Of A Complete Trial Transcript

The Ninth Circuit found that Supreme Court cases “clearly establish” that a State must provide an indigent defendant free transcripts of opening statements and closing arguments of his first trial in order to prepare for his retrial. (*Kennedy, supra*, 379 F.3d at p. 1049; see also *State v. Scott* (2013) 131 Hawai’i 333, 340–341.)

The *Kennedy* court emphasized that in *Britt*, the United States Supreme Court held that “the State must provide an indigent defendant with a transcript of *prior proceedings* when that transcript is needed for an effective defense or appeal.” (*Kennedy, supra*, 379 F.3d at p. 1046, quoting *Britt, supra*, 404 U.S. at p. 227, emphasis in original in *Kennedy*.) While acknowledging that the Supreme Court did not define the term “prior proceedings,” the Ninth Circuit nevertheless found that “the meaning of the term is clear.” (*Kennedy, supra*, 379 F.3d at p. 1047.) The term “prior proceedings” included “*all* of the acts and events that occur from the commencement of the judicial action until the entry of judgment.” (*Ibid.*, emphasis in original.) The Ninth Circuit expressly found that opening statements and closing arguments were included in the definition of “prior proceedings.” (*Ibid.*)

The *Kennedy* court also found that the seminal case on free transcripts, *Griffin, supra*, 351 U.S. 12, established that opening statements and closing arguments are part of a complete trial transcript. It pointed out that in *Griffin*, the Supreme Court held that the State must provide an indigent defendant with a “report of proceedings” for his appeal. (*Kennedy, supra*, 379 F.3d at p. 1047, quoting *Griffin, supra*, 351 U.S. at p. 13.) The *Griffin* court defined a “report of proceedings” as “all proceedings in the case from the time of the convening of the court until the termination of the trial.” (*Kennedy, supra*, 379 F.3d at p. 1047, quoting *Griffin, supra*, 351 U.S. 13, fn. 3.) Based on *Britt*’s reliance on *Griffin*, the Ninth Circuit “infer[red] that the [*Britt*] Court meant its definition of the term ‘proceedings’ to be the same as the definition of ‘proceedings’ used in *Griffin*.” (*Kennedy, supra*, 379 F.3d at p. 1047.)

Additionally, the *Kennedy* court found that *Griffin* and its progeny established that an indigent defendant is presumptively entitled to the mistrial transcripts of opening statements and closing arguments because of the value of these transcripts. It explained that transcripts of opening statements and closing arguments are “crucial to the development of an effective defense” in a retrial because they “may provide valuable insight into the government’s strategy.” (*Kennedy, supra*, 379 F.3d at pp. 1049, 1057.) “Various tactical and strategic decisions” of the defendant may be

influenced, such as being able to “anticipate some of the prosecution’s key arguments, identify potential weaknesses in its case, assess the relative weight that the prosecution would place on various items of evidence, and better determine what would be needed to refute them.” (*Id.* at p. 1057.)

While case law from the Ninth Circuit is not binding on this Court, it is still “persuasive and entitled to great weight.” (*People v. Bradley* (1969) 1 Cal.3d 80, 86.)

The Court of Appeal in this case declined to follow *Kennedy*, and instead found that the *Kennedy* dissent, which reasoned that the transcripts of the testimonies were sufficient, was more persuasive. (Op. at 13–14.) However, the Court of Appeal failed to recognize that even the *Kennedy* dissent noted that it “might not necessarily disagree with the court’s interpretation of *Britt*” if this were a “direct criminal appeal” instead of a habeas petition. (*Kennedy, supra*, 379 F.3d at p. 1059 (dis. opn. of O’Scannlain, J.)) Reese’s case presents the issue of his entitlement to a complete transcript, which includes opening statements and closing arguments, in the context of a direct appeal from his conviction.

The *Kennedy* case is also particularly relevant because it involved a petition for habeas corpus from a California state conviction. A higher standard of review applies under the Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of 1996 (“AEDPA”) when the Ninth Circuit reviews a petition

for habeas corpus for a person in state custody. Under AEDPA, the Ninth Circuit may grant a state prisoner's writ of habeas corpus "only if the state court's decision was 'based on an unreasonable determination of the facts in light of the evidence presented in State court proceeding,' . . . or the claimed constitutional error 'resulted in a decision that was contrary to, or involved an unreasonable application of, clearly established Federal law, as determined by the Supreme Court of the United States.'" (*Id.* at p. 1046, quoting 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)(1)–(2).) The *Kennedy* court found that the California court of appeal's holding that there was no constitutional violation when the trial court only provided the transcript of the trial testimony was "contrary to or an unreasonable application" of Supreme Court law. (*Kennedy, supra*, 379 F.3d at pp. 1051–1052.) Under the Supreme Court cases, a complete transcript of prior proceedings, including the opening statement and closing arguments, were required. (*Id.* at p. 1047.)

Thus to prevail on a habeas corpus petition in *Kennedy*, defendant was held to a much higher standard of review than is the defendant at the case in bar. The Court should follow the reasoning in *Kennedy*, and hold that transcripts of opening statements and closing arguments are part of a complete trial transcript.

2. The *Hosner* Court Implicitly Found That Opening Statements and Closing Arguments Are Included In A Complete Trial Transcript

The *Hosner* court held that when a trial court erroneously denies a transcript of a prior trial, then the *per se* standard of prejudice applies. (*Hosner, supra*, 15 Cal. 3d at p. 70.)

However, the *Hosner* court also entertained the possibility that a lower standard of prejudice could apply when a transcript of a non-trial proceeding is improperly withheld. The *Hosner* court stated: “We wish to note that we reserve decision whether the *per se* rule of prejudice which we apply herein to the erroneous denial of a transcript of a prior *trial* should also be applied to an erroneous denial of a transcript of some other prior proceeding.” (*Id.* at p. 71, fn.7, italics in original.) The examples of “some other prior proceeding” included non-trial events, such as a hearing on a motion to suppress, a hearing on a motion on the voluntariness of a confession, or a preliminary hearing that results in defendant’s release from custody. (*Ibid.*)

This discussion is significant because the *Hosner* court only contemplated a lower standard of prejudice for non-trial events. Opening statements and closing arguments always take place during a trial, and are therefore not part of “some other prior proceeding” that could be judged under a lower standard of prejudice. (*Ibid.*) As such, the *Hosner* court

implicitly found that events that place during a trial, such as opening statements and closing arguments, are part of a complete trial transcript. The erroneous denial of a complete trial transcript is judged under the automatic reversal standard of prejudice.

3. Transcripts Of The Opening Statements and Closing Arguments Help A Defendant With Pre-trial Discovery and Impeachment, As Set Forth In *Britt v. North Carolina*

This Court also should find that opening statements and closing arguments are part of a complete transcript because they help a defendant prepare for retrial in the two express ways set forth by the United States Supreme Court in *Britt*.

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