# In the Supreme Court of the State of California



THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

KEITH RYAN REESE,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT FILED

Case No. S230259

JUNº 28 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Second Appellate District, Division Eight, Case No. B253610 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. TA125272 The Honorable John T. Doyle, Judge

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

the core category of witness testimony, it is more pragmatic to ask the defendant to show why a particular transcript *is* needed than to ask the prosecution to show why the opposing party would *not* need the transcript. Applying the presumption only to witness testimony also makes sense because any need to refer to the exact words of opening statements and closing arguments (and other portions of the proceedings), if it were ever even necessary, would be much less critical than the need to refer to the exact words of a witness's testimony.

### C. Reese's Counterarguments are Unpersuasive

Reese offers several arguments as to why the presumption for a "full" and "complete" transcript should, to the contrary, be construed to encompass opening statements and closing arguments of counsel. He first places heavy reliance on the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals' decision in Kennedy v. Lockyer (9th Cir. 2004) 379 F.3d 1041, which determined that United States Supreme Court authority clearly establishes an indigent defendant's constitutional right to a transcript of a mistrial including the opening statements and closing arguments of counsel. (AOB 11-14.) His reliance is misplaced. Kennedy's construction of what constitutes a "full" and "complete" trial transcript is dubious for the reasons already discussed. But the decision is flawed for a more fundamental reason, in that the court apparently failed to appreciate, and therefore did not address, the distinction between the scope of an indigent defendant's equal protection right to a mistrial transcript and the more narrow and specific question of the scope of the presumption of need. Kennedy simply concluded that an indigent defendant facing retrial "must be provided" with transcripts of "among other things, motions and the court's rulings thereon, as well as opening statements, closing arguments, jury instructions, and relevant colloquies." (Id. at p. 1049.) And it did so without any discussion of the scope, or even mindfulness of the existence, of the presumption that the Supreme Court

has used to effectuate the constitutional rule. Its analysis is therefore unsound. Equal protection may or may not compel the provision of the various transcripts identified by the *Kennedy* court, depending on whether they are "needed for an effective defense." The question in any particular case is whether a showing of need has been made, or whether a presumed need has been rebutted. Because the Ninth Circuit in *Kennedy* asked and answered the wrong question, its analysis is unpersuasive and should be rejected. (See *People v. Linton* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 1146, 1182, fn. 8 ["We are not bound, of course, by decisions of the lower federal courts, even on federal questions, but they may be considered for their persuasive weight."].)<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Moreover, it is questionable whether *Kennedy* remains good authority in light of subsequent federal habeas decisions. (See Miller v. Gammie (9th Cir. 2003) 335 F.3d 889, 900 (en banc) [circuit precedent not binding where intervening Supreme Court decision has "undercut the theory or reasoning underlying the prior circuit precedent in such a way that the cases are clearly irreconcilable"].) Since Kennedy was issued, the United States Supreme Court has clarified that its precedent is clearly established as to a particular claim only when it "squarely addresses" the same issue and provides a "clear answer." (Wright v. Van Patten (2008) 552 U.S. 120, 125-26; see also White v. Woodall (2014) 134 S. Ct. 1697, 1706-1707.) The Court has also made clear that an unreasonable application of its authority is one that is "so lacking in justification that there was an error well understood and comprehended in existing law beyond any possibility for fairminded disagreement." (Harrington v. Richter (2011) 562 U.S. 86, 103; see also Stephen R. Reinhardt, The Demise of Habeas Corpus and the Rise of Qualified Immunity (2015) 113 Mich. Law Rev. 1219, 1228 ["this description of AEDPA is completely untethered from Supreme Court precedent. The Court had never before used the 'fairminded jurist' standard to describe the "unreasonable application' test in AEDPA . . . . "].) Kennedy's claim could not meet these standards since the United States Supreme Court's cases do not define with any particularity the scope of the presumption of need for a mistrial transcript.

Reese also argues that this Court in *Hosner* implicitly concluded that the opening statements and closing arguments of counsel "are included in a complete trial transcript" because it observed that "a lower standard of prejudice could apply when a transcript of a non-trial proceeding is improperly withheld." (AOB 15-16.) But *Hosner* did not address with any particularity the scope of *Britt*'s presumption of need, an issue that was not presented in that case and which in any event is a separate question from the standard of prejudice that should apply once an equal protection violation has been established. (See Arg. II, *post.*) *Hosner* simply identified several non-trial proceedings that would not be subject to its rule of automatic reversal. That cursory observation should be of little, if any, import in the present analysis.

In addition, Reese points to a number of ways in which a transcript of opening statements and closing arguments would be "helpful" to the preparation of a defense in advance of retrial, principally in that they would show what evidence the prosecution emphasized and what its strategy for the case was. (AOB 16-21.) However, the question of what portions of the record should be constitutionally presumed necessary to an effective defense is narrower than the question of what portions of the record might simply be "helpful." Even if a transcript of opening statements and closing arguments might help a defendant facing retrial, it would not directly serve the rationale of ensuring discovery and the opportunity for impeachment of witnesses so that it may be *presumed* that such a transcript is needed for an effective defense. (See *Ross v. Moffitt* (1974) 417 U.S. 600, 616 ["The question is not one of absolutes, but one of degrees . . . . the fact that a particular service might be of benefit to an indigent defendant does not mean that the service is constitutionally required"].)

And finally, Reese invokes California Rule of Court 8.320(c)(9)(B), which makes a transcript including opening statements and closing

arguments of counsel a part of the standard record on appeal, and he argues that this rule underscores the importance of such a transcript. (AOB 22.) What California's rules of court provide for as a matter of state law, however, is not coextensive with what the federal constitution requires as a matter of equal protection. California's appellate rules call for transcripts of proceedings that even Reese appears to acknowledge would not fall within Britt's presumption of need. (Compare AOB 15-16 [arguing that Hosner's identification of non-trial events (such as pretrial evidentiary rulings) as outside the scope of its per-se reversal rule shows that trial events are subject to presumption of need] with Cal. R. Ct. 8.320(c) [requiring transcripts of, among other things, pretrial evidentiary rulings].) But in any event, what is needed for an effective defense at retrial is different from what is needed for an effective appeal. Appellate issues may be based on what is said during opening statements (see, e.g., *People v.* Frye (1998) 18 Cal.4th 894, 983 [addressing claim that defense counsel ineffectively highlighted anticipated evidence in opening statement that he did not introduce at trial]) or during closing arguments (see, e.g., *People v.* Whalen (2013) 56 Cal.4th 1, 77 ["it is misconduct for a prosecutor, during argument, to misstate the law"]). Whereas on retrial, the need for a transcript derives from its value as a discovery device and as a source of impeachment material. (Britt, 404 U.S. at p. 228.)

D. Because Reese did not Make an Adequate Showing of Need, the Trial Court's Denial of Transcripts of Opening Statements and Closing Arguments Satisfied Equal Protection

Given that the presumption of need for a transcript before retrial encompasses only witness testimony, it was incumbent upon Reese in making his request for a transcript of opening statements and closing arguments to demonstrate a need for the transcript. He argues that his statement to the trial court that the transcript would have saved him time

and helped him avoid the same mistakes was sufficient to establish the requisite need. (AOB 22-23.) But where the presumption of need does not apply the defendant must show not just that the requested transcript would be helpful but that it is necessary to secure an effective defense. (See *Britt*, *supra*, 404 U.S. at p. 227; cf. *Hosner*, *supra*, 15 Cal.3d at p. 65 [where presumption does apply, burden is on State to show that less than complete transcript would be adequate to secure effective defense].) Reese's justification, particularly in the context of this short and straightforward trial, was insufficient to show that he needed to refer to the opening statements and closing arguments of the initial trial in order to have an effective defense at the retrial. There was nothing complex or obscure about the parties' trial strategies and arguments, and the requested transcript would have had little value as a reference source.

The trial court's ruling was therefore sound, and the judgment should be affirmed.

II. EVEN IF AN INDIGENT DEFENDANT IS PRESUMED TO NEED A
TRANSCRIPT OF COUNSEL'S OPENING STATEMENTS AND
CLOSING ARGUMENTS PRIOR TO RETRIAL, THE FAILURE TO
PROVIDE PART OF A TRANSCRIPT IS NOT STRUCTURAL ERROR

Even if Reese were correct that the constitutional presumption of need for a full record prior to retrial includes a transcript of the opening statements and closing arguments of counsel, he is incorrect that reversal is automatically required. (AOB 26.)<sup>3</sup> The failure to provide a portion of a trial transcript to an indigent defendant before retrial is subject to review for harmlessness. To the extent *Hosner* could be read as holding to the contrary, that decision should be clarified or reexamined. And because the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Insofar as the presumption applied, Reese is correct that it was not rebutted in the trial court. (AOB 24-26.)

error asserted by Reese was harmless on the facts of this case, his conviction should be affirmed.

Article VI, section 13 of the California Constitution provides: "No judgment shall be set aside, or new trial granted, in any cause, on the ground of misdirection of the jury, or of the improper admission or rejection of evidence, or for any error as to any matter of pleading, or for any error as to any matter of procedure, unless, after an examination of the entire cause, including the evidence, the court shall be of the opinion that the error complained of has resulted in a miscarriage of justice." As this Court has observed, reversal for structural error—error that affects "the framework within which the trial proceeds"—is limited to instances of: "adjudication by a biased judge"; "the complete deprivation of counsel"; "the unlawful exclusion of grand jurors based on race"; "the infringement on the right to self-representation"; "the denial of a public trial"; "and the giving of a constitutionally deficient instruction on the reasonable doubt standard." (People v. Anzalone (2013) 56 Cal.4th 545, 553-554.) The United States Supreme Court has similarly observed that the category of structural error is limited to a class of cases in which there has been complete denial of counsel, a biased trial judge, racial discrimination in selection of grand jury, denial of self-representation at trial, denial of public trial, or a defective reasonable-doubt instruction. (Washington v. Recuenco (2006) 548 U.S. 212, 218, fn.2.)

In *Hosner*, this Court concluded that the failure to turn over any part of the mistral transcript except for "a small portion of the defendant's testimony" required automatic reversal because "in the manner of the denial of the assistance of counsel, the denial of a transcript of a former trial infects all the evidence offered at the latter trial, for there is no way of knowing to what extent adroit counsel assisted by the transcript to which the defendant was entitled might have been able to impeach or rebut any

given item of evidence." (Hosner, supra, 15 Cal.3d at pp. 68, 70.) Hosner relied in part on the United States Supreme Court's decision in Roberts v. LaVallee (1967) 389 U.S. 40, which held that an indigent defendant is entitled to a preliminary hearing transcript upon request before trial. (Id. at p. 42.) Although Roberts did not specifically address the question of harmlessness, the dissent in that case characterized the decision as requiring automatic reversal. (Id. at p. 44 (dis. opn. of Harlan, J.); see also Hosner, supra, 15 Cal.3d at pp. 70-71.)

Both of those cases, however, involved a total, or effectively total, deprivation of a transcript and therefore must be understood in that light. (See People v. Knoller (2007) 41 Cal.4th 139, 154-155 ["It is axiomatic that language in a judicial opinion is to be understood in accordance with the facts and issues before the court"].) The situation here, in which Reese was given all of the witness testimony before his retrial, cannot be said to have completely infected the retrial in the manner posited by the *Hosner* Court. Indeed, *Hosner* analogized the error in that case to a complete denial of counsel. (Hosner, supra, 15 Cal.3d at p. 70.) And while the complete denial of counsel is recognized as a structural error, the denial of counsel at only one stage of the proceedings may be subject to harmlessness review. (See, e.g., Coleman v. Alabama (1970) 399 U.S. 1, 9-10; People v. Pampa-Ortiz (1980) 27 Cal.3d 519, 529.) The error here, if there was error, is much more analogous to the latter type of constitutional defect that is subject to assessment for its impact on the outcome of the trial.

The equal protection cases governing this issue, moreover, have consistently recognized that the scope of the right to a "full" and "complete" transcript is defined by a defendant's need for the transcript to ensure an effective defense (see *Britt*, *supra*, 404 U.S. at p. 227; see also *Hosner*, *supra*, 15 Cal.3d 60 at p. 65), and that in some cases portions of the

transcript that are not germane do not have to be provided to an indigent defendant (see *Mayer*, *supra*, 404 U.S. at pp. 194-195; *Draper*, *supra*, 372 U.S. at pp. 495-496). The presumption of need is therefore just that: a presumption. In the trial court, the State may undertake to show that only a portion of the transcript (or some alternative) would suffice to secure the defendant an effective defense. (See *Mayer*, *supra*, 404 U.S. at p. 195; see also *Hosner*, *supra*, 15 Cal.3d at p. 65.) It would make little sense to say that such a showing is permissible in the trial court but that on appeal no such showing may be made to avoid reversal of the conviction.

Hosner did not elaborate on the parameters of its per-se-reversal rule, other than to point to several examples of non-trial proceedings to which the rule would not apply. (Hosner, supra, 15 Cal.3d at p. 71, fn. 7.) In light of its facts, however, and in light of the pertinent equal protection authority, Hosner must be understood as calling for per se reversal only when the denial of a transcript to an indigent defendant is complete or effectively complete. Even Kennedy, upon which Reese relies, is in accord. The court there observed: "Where the state completely fails to provide an indigent defendant with a transcript of a mistrial for use in connection with a second trial, we would likely find structural error," but "[w]here the state fails to provide only a portion of the transcript . . . we conclude that harmless error analysis applies." (Kennedy, supra, 379 F.3d at p. 1053.)

Accordingly, reversal is not required here if the record shows that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (See *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24.) Reese's initial trial, and his retrial, were relatively short and the issues were straightforward. Both trials involved only four witnesses. He was given transcripts of all the witness testimony from the first trial. In the trial court, Reese stated that he wanted the transcripts of opening statements and closing arguments so that he would not repeat the same errors from the first trial. (See 3RT 4-5, 10.)

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